

ADOPTED: 28 September 2016 doi: 10.2903/j.efsa.2016.4601

Susceptibility of *Citrus* spp., *Quercus ilex* and *Vitis* spp. to *Xylella fastidiosa* strain CoDiRO

EFSA Panel on Plant Health (PLH),

Michael Jeger, Claude Bragard, David Caffier, Elisavet Chatzivassiliou, Katharina Dehnen-Schmutz, Gianni Gilioli, Jean-Claude Grégoire, Josep Anton Jaques Miret, Alan MacLeod, Maria Navajas Navarro, Bjoern Niere, Stephen Parnell, Roel Potting, Trond Rafoss, Vittorio Rossi, Gregor Urek, Ariena Van Bruggen, Wopke Van Der Werf, Jonathan West, Stephan Winter, Leonardo De La Fuente, João Roberto Spotti Lopes, Sara Tramontini, Miren Andueza and Thierry Candresse

Abstract

Following a request from the European Commission, the EFSA Plant Health Panel analysed a dossier submitted by the Italian Authorities to reach a conclusion on the status of Vitis spp., Citrus spp. and Ouercus ilex as hosts for Xylella fastidiosa strain CoDiRO. The Panel acknowledges the difficulty to provide compelling evidence for non-susceptibility of a particular plant species. In the case of Vitis spp., the Panel considers that convergent lines of evidence provide sufficient demonstration that at least the tested varieties (Cabernet Sauvignon, Negroamaro and Primitivo) do not support a systemic infection by the CoDiRO strain. The extension of this conclusion to other grapevine varieties and to Vitis species other than Vitis vinifera is associated with significant uncertainties. The Panel therefore considers it premature to conclude that all Vitis species are unable to support a CoDiRO systemic infection. In addition, although the local accumulation detected in the mechanical inoculation experiments may represent an artefact, the Panel considers it premature to conclude that the tested grapevine varieties are not able to support local multiplication of the CoDiRO strain. Further extension of this conclusion to other grapevine varieties and to non-vinifera species is also premature. For Citrus spp., the data available provide coherent and converging lines of evidence suggesting that sweet orange may be a non-systemic host of strain CoDiRO. However, given the limited scope of the data available on other species, the Panel considers it premature to reach a general conclusion for all Citrus species. The potential epidemiological consequences of non-systemic infections remain to be fully evaluated. In the case of Quercus ilex, the Panel concludes that the limited data available provides some evidence suggesting that it may not be a systemic host of the CoDiRO strain, but that it would be premature to consider this tentative conclusion as firmly established.

© 2016 European Food Safety Authority. EFSA Journal published by John Wiley and Sons Ltd on behalf of European Food Safety Authority.

Keywords: citrus, grapevine, holly oak, host plant, inoculation

Requestor: European Commission

Question number: EFSA-Q-2016-00446 **Correspondence:** alpha@efsa.europa.eu



Panel members: Claude Bragard, David Caffier, Thierry Candresse, Elisavet Chatzivassiliou, Katharina Dehnen-Schmutz, Gianni Gilioli, Jean-Claude Grégoire, Josep Anton Jaques Miret, Michael Jeger, Alan MacLeod, Maria Navajas Navarro, Bjoern Niere, Stephen Parnell, Roel Potting, Trond Rafoss, Vittorio Rossi, Gregor Urek, Ariena Van Bruggen, Wopke Van Der Werf, Jonathan West and Stephan Winter

Suggested citation: EFSA Panel on Plant Health (PLH), Jeger M, Bragard C, Caffier D, Chatzivassiliou E, Dehnen-Schmutz K, Gilioli G, Grégoire J-C, Jaques Miret JA, MacLeod A, Navajas Navarro M, Niere B, Parnell S, Potting R, Rafoss T, Rossi V, Urek G, Van Bruggen A, Van Der Werf W, West J, Winter S, De La Fuente L, Spotti Lopes JR, Tramontini S, Andueza M and Candresse T, 2016. Statement on susceptibility of *Citrus* spp., *Quercus ilex* and *Vitis* spp. to *Xylella fastidiosa* strain CoDiRO. EFSA Journal 2016; 14(10):4601, 19 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2016.4601

ISSN: 1831-4732

© 2016 European Food Safety Authority. EFSA Journal published by John Wiley and Sons Ltd on behalf of European Food Safety Authority.

This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NoDerivs License, which permits use and distribution in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and no modifications or adaptations are made.



The EFSA Journal is a publication of the European Food Safety Authority, an agency of the European Union.





Table of contents

Abstract.		1	
1.	Introduction		
1.1.	Background and Terms of Reference as provided by the requestor	4	
1.2.	Interpretation of the Terms of Reference	4	
1.3.	Additional information	5	
2.	Data and methodologies	5	
2.1.	Data	5	
2.2.	Methodologies	6	
3.	Assessment	6	
3.1.	Assessment of Vitis spp. as a host of Xylella strain CoDiRO	6	
3.1.1.	Background on CoDiRO-Vitis spp. interactions as previously analysed by EFSA Plant Health		
	Panel (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015)	6	
3.1.2.	Assessment of new data provided by the Italian Authorities	7	
3.1.2.1.	Philaenus spumarius as an efficient vector of Xylella fastidiosa on Vitis spp	7	
3.1.2.2.	New CoDiRO insect transmission experiments to grapevine	7	
3.1.2.3.	Mechanical inoculation experiments	8	
3.1.2.4.	Follow up on the survey	10	
3.1.3.	Conclusions on Vitis spp. as a host for Xylella fastidiosa strain CoDiRO	11	
3.2.	Assessment of Citrus spp. as hosts of Xylella fastidiosa strain CoDiRO	12	
3.2.1.	Background information	12	
3.2.2.	Assessment of new data provided by the Italian Authorities	13	
3.2.3.	Conclusions on Citrus spp. as hosts of Xylella fastidiosa strain CoDiRO	14	
3.3.	Assessment of <i>Quercus ilex</i> as a host of <i>Xylella fastidiosa</i> strain CoDiRO	15	
3.3.1.	Background information		
3.3.2.	Assessment on <i>Quercus ilex</i> as a host of <i>Xylella fastidiosa</i> strain CoDiRO	15	
3.3.3.	Conclusions on <i>Quercus ilex</i> as a host of <i>Xylella fastidiosa</i> strain CoDiRO	16	
4.	Conclusions		
Reference	es		
Abbrovio	hbrovistions		



1. Introduction

1.1. Background and Terms of Reference as provided by the requestor¹

The purpose of this mandate is to request, pursuant to Articles 29 and 31 of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002², scientific advice and technical assistance in the field of plant health as regards the regulated harmful organism *Xylella fastidiosa*.

Pursuant to Article 31 of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002, the European Food Safety Authority (EFSA) is requested to further specify and update the host plants database of *X. fastidiosa* currently available,³ taking into account the different *X. fastidiosa* subspecies and strains (with particular reference to the European isolates), with inclusion of information on non-susceptible host plants and varieties and negative results of diagnostic tests where available. EFSA is requested to maintain and update this database periodically and to make new releases available on EFSA website, together with a report. Such report should specify the list of plants confirmed to be infected by at least two detection methods in field conditions or via vector transmission under experimental conditions and be published at least annually, or according to needs following agreements between our Services. Such request is for the period 2016–2020 and the needs for its continuation will be re-assessed by the end of this period.

Additionally, following the recent 'EFSA pilot project on *Xylella fastidiosa* to reduce risk assessment uncertainties' published on 29 March 2016, the Italian Authorities have requested delisting of *Vitis*, *Citrus* and *Quercus ilex* from Annex I of Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 789/2015⁴ as considered to be not suitable hosts for the colonisation and multiplication of *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *pauca*, strain CoDiRO, present in the Apulia region. Consequently, in order for the Commission and the Member States to further analyse such request, and make a decision in the relevant Standing Committee, EFSA is invited to provide scientific advice pursuant to Article 29 of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 on current scientific knowledge to support a decision on possible delisting of the indicated plant species for *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *pauca* strain CoDiRO. When preparing this scientific advice, EFSA is invited to take into account, where needed, the EFSA Scientific Opinion of 20 November 2015 on *Vitis* sp. response to *X. fastidiosa* strain CoDiRO, and be in direct contact with the Italian Authorities in case further scientific or technical information are needed. This advice should not only focus on *Vitis vinifera* but also on other relevant *Vitis* species.

Furthermore, the Costa Rica National Plant Protection Organisation has recently requested delisting of *Phoenix roebelenii* from Annex I of Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 789/2015 as not found to be infected by *X. fastidiosa* in their territory. Consequently, in order for the Commission to further analyse such a request, EFSA is invited to review the technical and scientific information submitted by Costa Rica (annexed to the mandate) and provided a scientific advice pursuant to Articles 29 of Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 on susceptibility of *P. roebelenii* to *X. fastidiosa* based on current knowledge.

EFSA is therefore requested to prepare the first scientific report on the updated *X. fastidiosa* host plants database at latest by April 2017 with regular updates as soon as available, while delivering the above-mentioned scientific advice on *Vitis* spp., *Citrus* spp. and *Q. ilex* by 15 September 2016 and the scientific advice on *P. roebelenii* by 30 October 2016 at the latest.

1.2. Interpretation of the Terms of Reference

In this opinion, the EFSA Panel on Plant Health (PLH; hereafter 'the Panel') replies to the Commission request concerning the susceptibility of *Citrus* spp., *Q. ilex* and *Vitis* spp. to *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *pauca* strain CoDiRO.

-

¹ Submitted by European Commission, ref. SANTE/G1/PDR/svi (2016) 3575400.

² Regulation (EC) No 178/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 28 January 2002 laying down the general principles and requirements of food law, establishing the European Food Safety Authority and laying down procedures in matters of food safety, OJ L 31, 1.2.2002, p. 1–24, as last amended.

³ EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2016. Scientific report on the update of a database of host plants of *Xylella fastidiosa*: 20 November 2015. EFSA Journal 2016;14(2):4378, 40 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2016.4378

⁴ Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2015/789 of 18 May 2015 as regards measures to prevent the introduction into and the spread within the Union of *Xylella fastidiosa* (Wells et al.). OJ L 125, 21.5.2015, p. 36–53.

⁵ EFSA PLH Panel (EFSA Panel on Plant Health), 2015. Scientific opinion on *Vitis* sp. response to *Xylella fastidiosa* strain CoDiRO. EFSA Journal 2015;13(11):4314, 20 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2015.4314



The *X. fastidiosa* bacterial populations that are considered in the present opinion belong to subsp. *pauca* and correspond to isolates classified by multilocus sequence typing (MLST) as a sequence type ST53. They are present in Apulia and found infecting olive and other plants. All bacterial isolates causing the CoDiRO disease in olives in Apulia belong to ST53 (EFSA PLH Panel, 2016) and, as clarified previously by the Panel, although the denomination 'strain CoDiRO' is not formally correct, it is now in common use in the scientific literature on the Italian *X. fastidiosa* outbreak (and in the Terms of Reference (ToR) of the present opinion). Therefore, for consistency and simplicity reasons, the term 'CoDiRO strain' will be used throughout the present opinion when referring to Apulian ST53 *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *pauca* isolates.

In the present opinion, the Panel distinguishes between systemic infection and non-systemic infection of host plants. In the first case, *X. fastidiosa* is able to multiply and systemically spread within the inoculated host. This compatible interaction is referred to in the present opinion as 'systemic infection' and the corresponding host as 'systemic host'. In the second case, *X. fastidiosa* is able to multiply at or near the inoculation point but is unable to systemically invade more distant parts of the inoculated plant. Although the underlying mechanisms are not understood, this situation is well documented for some hosts/bacteria combinations and will be referred to as 'non-systemic infection' or 'localised infection' and the corresponding host as 'non-systemic host'. This second situation is equivalent to the term 'local infection' used in the previous opinion on *Vitis* spp. response to strain CoDiRO (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015).

1.3. Additional information

In order to review the host status of *Vitis* spp., *Citrus* spp. and *Q. ilex* for the CoDiRO strain, EFSA contacted the Italian Authorities to obtain scientific and technical information. The requested information concerned all available data not included in the report of the EFSA-funded pilot project on host plants of the CoDiRO strain (Saponari et al., 2016). Upon reviewing this new data, further clarifications were requested by EFSA and obtained from Dr Maria Saponari. All the new information received was considered in the light of the previous EFSA opinion on the CoDiRO host status of grapevine (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015).

2. Data and methodologies

2.1. Data

Survey data and the technical dossier prepared by the Italian Authorities were provided to the Panel after request, as follows:

- 1) Email of the 11th August 2016 with the following attachments
 - a) 'Xylella fastidiosa strain CoDiRO: additional information on non-susceptible hosts (Vitis, Citrus spp. and Quercus ilex)' August, 2016; prepared by Istituto per la Protezione Sostenibile delle Piante, CNR Bari, Dipartimento di Scienze del Suolo, della Pianta e degli Alimenti dell'Università di Bari, Centro di Ricerca, Sperimentazione e Formazione in Agricoltura 'Basile Caramia'.
 - b) Annex I: manuscript in press 'Transmission of *Xylella fastidiosa* to grapevine by the meadow spittlebug' by Cornara D, Sicard A, Zeilinger A.R., Porcelli F, Purcell AH and Almeida RPP (hereafter Cornara et al., publication A).
 - c) Annex II: accepted manuscript 'Transmission of *Xylella fastidiosa* by naturally infected *Philaenus spumarius* (Hemiptera, Aphrophoridae) to different host plants' by Cornara D, Cavalieri V, Dongiovanni C, Altamura G, Palmisano F, Bosco D, Porcelli F, Almeida RPP and Saponari M (hereafter Cornara et al., publication B).
 - d) Annex III: table with the sampled Vitis spp. plants in winter 2015–2016.
 - e) Annexes IV and V: descriptive fiches of the surveyed vineyards.

Targeted extensive literature searches were carried out on the research platform ISI Web of Science and on the EFSA *X. fastidiosa* host plant database (EFSA, 2016). Further references and information were obtained from citations within the reviewed references and from experts.



2.2. Methodologies

The assessment was conducted in line with the principles described in the EFSA Guidance on transparency in the scientific aspects of risk assessment (EFSA Scientific Committee, 2009). The present document is structured according to the Guidance on the structure and content of EFSA's scientific opinions and statements (EFSA Scientific Committee, 2014).

For a thorough evaluation of *Vitis* spp., *Citrus* spp. and *Q. ilex* as possible hosts of the strain CoDiRO, the Panel considered all the data and information provided by the Italian Authorities and relevant literature to assess these novel host–pathogen interactions. The assessment is divided into three main sections, specific for each genus (*Vitis* spp. and *Citrus* spp.) and species (*Q. ilex*). Under each section the Panel provided (i) all relevant background information used in support to its assessment, (ii) the analysis of the data provided by the Italian Authorities and (iii) the specific conclusions.

3. Assessment

3.1. Assessment of *Vitis* spp. as a host of *Xylella fastidiosa* strain CoDiRO

3.1.1. Background on CoDiRO-Vitis spp. interactions as previously analysed by EFSA Plant Health Panel (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015)

The genus *Vitis* has been included in Annex I of the Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2015/789 as a 'specified plant' known to be susceptible to the European and non-European isolates of *X. fastidiosa*. However, *Vitis* species have never been shown to be infected under natural conditions by the CoDiRO strain responsible for the Apulian outbreak.

To investigate the host range, incidence and spread of this newly emerging pathogen, studies on the susceptibility of some important perennial Mediterranean species to CoDiRO isolates were conducted in the framework of a pilot project initiated in 2013 by three Italian research institutes (CNR of Bari in collaboration with University Aldo Moro of Bari and research centre of Locorotondo) and funded by EFSA. Grapes, citrus, peach, plum as well as *Q. ilex* were included in the trials and the final report of this project was published in March 2016 (Saponari et al., 2016). The trials included inoculation experiments with selected grapevine cultivars performed either with isolated bacteria or with field-collected *P. spumarius* insects.

In September 2015, EFSA received a dossier from the Italian Authorities with preliminary results from the pilot project and additional data from field surveys of vineyards located in the epidemic zone and with presumably high inoculum pressure from surrounding CoDiRO infected olive trees. In the light of a request by the Italian Authorities for the delisting of *Vitis* from Annex I of the Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2015/789, EFSA was requested to assess the data and to provide an opinion on the host status of *Vitis* spp. for the CoDiRO strain. The EFSA PLH Panel (2015) identified concerns with the available data and uncertainties that did not allow a definitive statement excluding *Vitis* spp. as a susceptible host for the CoDiRO strain.

The uncertainties expressed were related to technical aspects of the artificial inoculation method used, in particular the efficiency of the method, the limited number of test plants and the single cultivar used in the experiments (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015). An artificial infection of grapevine by needle inoculation of bacterial cultures resulted in detection by quantitative polymerase chain reaction (qPCR) of bacterial DNA at the inoculation site even 12 months after inoculation. This raised concerns that localised infection foci might establish from which bacterial cells could potentially be transmitted (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015).

Uncertainties were also associated with insect transmission experiments to infect grapevine using *P. spumarius* vectors. The available data did not demonstrate whether *P. spumarius* would visit grapevine for sufficiently long periods and would actively probe and feed on the plants to guarantee bacterial acquisition and transmission. Thus, the Panel questioned whether *P. spumarius* would be a competent vector to transmit the CoDiRO strain to grapevine (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015). Compounded with the observed low efficiency of transmission to olive plants in control experiments, the uncertainties on *P. spumarius* interactions with grapevine made it very difficult to conclude whether the negative results obtained truly reflected a non-host status of grapevine.



The results of surveys for the CoDiRO strain in *Vitis* spp. plants in vineyards under natural infection pressure from the surrounding CoDiRO-infected olive trees were also associated with uncertainties. While symptoms on grapevine were never observed and bacteria detection by enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) and polymerase chain reaction (PCR) was negative, concerns were raised on the sensitivity of the detection method used with the possibility that low levels of infections would not be detected. The major uncertainty affecting the survey results, however, came from the fact that these results were not supported by information on the presence of infective *P. spumarius* in the vineyards (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015). In the absence of such information, it was not possible to conclude whether failure to detect *X. fastidiosa* resulted from a non-host status of grapevine or from limited contacts with insects vectoring the CoDiRO strain.

Because of the uncertainties identified, and in consideration of the difficulty to provide compelling evidence that a compatible host–pathogen interaction does not exist, the Panel considered premature, in its previous opinion, to conclude that grapevine was not a host of the CoDiRO strain (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015).

Investigations on the host range of the CoDiRO strain have been pursued. The novel data not included in the already published report of the pilot project (Saponari et al., 2016) has been integrated in a new dossier prepared by the Italian Authorities and titled '*Xylella fastidiosa* strain CoDiRO: additional information on non-susceptible hosts (*Vitis, Citrus* spp. and *Quercus ilex*)' (Section 2.1). This dossier provides an update on the current knowledge on the susceptibility of grapevine to the CoDiRO strain and is analysed by the Panel in the following sections.

3.1.2. Assessment of new data provided by the Italian Authorities

3.1.2.1. Philaenus spumarius as an efficient vector of Xylella fastidiosa on Vitis spp.

Besides an initial demonstration proving transmission of *X. fastidiosa* by *P. spumarius* (Severin, 1950) and reports of *P. spumarius* as a vector for *X. fastidiosa* on almond (Purcell, 1980) and pecan (Sanderlin and Melanson, 2010), there is only limited data available on transmission of *X. fastidiosa* by this vector species. More recently, Saponari et al. (2014) and Cornara et al. (2016), using field-collected insects, confirmed that *P. spumarius* acts as a vector of the CoDiRO strain.

The paper by Cornara et al. (publication A), provides additional information on the transmission of *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *fastidiosa* STL strain (Almeida and Purcell, 2003) by *P. spumarius*.

The authors confirm that the transmission parameters determined for *P. spumarius* are generally similar to those for leafhopper vectors. A positive correlation between the bacterial estimates by qPCR in the insect heads and the rate of plant infection was found, but transmission was already possible with only few bacterial cells or negative PCR detection, confirming the results of Purcell and Finlay (1979) with other vectors. The authors thus underline that, up to now, there is still no reliable protocol for monitoring for the presence of X. fastidiosa in vectors and connecting those results to pathogen transmission risk.

Similar to previous work (Rashed et al., 2011) qPCR was used according to Francis et al. (2006) to estimate *X. fastidiosa* populations in insects. The measured bacterial populations in *P. spumarius* heads ranged from 10 to 10³ cells per insect head, a concentration considerably lower than the ca. 10⁵ cells reported for *Graphocephala atropunctata*, a well-studied vector species (Killiny and Almeida, 2009). Nevertheless, efficient transmission to grapevine was obtained with *P. spumarius* (Cornara et al., 2016).

Taken together, the results of Cornara et al. (publication A) provide convincing evidence that *P. spumarius* is able to transmit *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *fastidiosa* to grapevine, confirming experiments by Severin (1950) who determined a transmission rate of 0–66% between grapevines.

It was already known that *P. spumarius* is a vector of the CoDiRO strain and efficiently transmits it to olives (Saponari et al., 2016). The demonstration that *P. spumarius* is an efficient vector for *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *fastidiosa* to *Vitis vinifera* cv. Cabernet Sauvignon provides a good indication that the insect also interacts efficiently with grapevine. The Panel therefore concludes that it is very likely that *P. spumarius* would be able to similarly inoculate the CoDiRO strain to other grapevine cultivars.

3.1.2.2. New CoDiRO insect transmission experiments to grapevine

In Cornara et al. (publication B), transmission experiments using field-collected *P. spumarius* were performed with olive, oleander, sweet orange, grapevine cv. Cabernet Sauvignon, and the *Prunus persica* × *Prunus amygdalus* stone fruit rootstock GF677. Depending on the experiment, the proportion of *P. spumarius* carrying detectable levels of the CoDiRO strain ranged from 25% to 71%. The number of *X. fastidiosa* cells (colony-forming unit (CFU) equivalents) detected in the vector heads,



using the qPCR protocol from Francis et al. (2006) was estimated between 35 and 400 CFU which was well within the range reported for *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *fastidiosa* by Cornara et al. (publication A).

X. fastidiosa was detected in all plant species included in the transmission experiments with the exception of grapevine. None of the 75 Cabernet Sauvignon plantlets, which were subjected to a total of 375 field-collected *P. spumarius* over a period of 2 years, became infected. The number of insects used in these experiments is in line with those commonly used in other transmission studies (Redak et al., 2004), although in the 2015 experiments, only 40% of the insects (102 of 250 specimen) tested positive for *X. fastidiosa*.

The results obtained show that the experimental conditions allowed an efficient transmission of the CoDiRO strain to olive (41.3%, 150 test plants) and oleander (74%, 50 test plants) while none of the 75 Cabernet Sauvignon grapevine plants tested positive at the time intervals 3, 6 and 14 months post-inoculation in 2014 (total of 25 plants inoculated in 2014). The corresponding testing time intervals were 3 and 6 months post-inoculation for the 50 plants inoculated in 2015. The transmission of CoDiRO to sweet orange resulted in non-systemic infections observed in 13.3% of the 75 test plants (see Section 3.2.2) while in the stone fruit rootstock non-systemic infection was found in one of the 65 test plants.

The conclusion reached by Cornara et al. (publication A) that *P. spumarius* is able to efficiently interact with grapevine has essentially no associated uncertainties. Extending this conclusion to other *P. spumarius* populations (e.g. European populations), to other *X. fastidiosa* subspecies, to other experimental or natural conditions, or to other grapevine genotypes or other *Vitis* species is perceived by the Panel as introducing some level of uncertainty:

- Concerning the first two points (other *P. spumarius* populations and *X. fastidiosa* subspecies), given the known ability of the European *P. spumarius* populations to transmit the CoDiRO strain to olive and oleander, the introduced uncertainties appear rather limited.
- Concerning the experimental conditions, available data shows that transmission efficiency is affected by a range of parameters including, for example, the nature of the acquisition host, the length of the acquisition and inoculation periods or the bacterial concentration in the acquisition host. However, the inclusion of suitable positive controls in transmission experiments would limit the uncertainties associated with changes in any of these parameters.
- Lastly, concerning the extension of the results to Vitis species and grapevine cultivars, this is perceived as the aspect which introduces the most important uncertainties. This is because the Vitis genus encompasses a range of species and cultivars which are known to show significant variability in their sensitivity to X. fastidiosa (Fry and Milholland, 1990; Krivanek and Walker, 2005; Krivanek et al., 2005; Fritschi et al., 2008; Rashed et al., 2013). As a consequence, it is very difficult to evaluate the uncertainty associated with the generalisation to the whole Vitis genus of a result obtained with a single genotype. These uncertainties likely cannot be resolved in the absence of additional experimental data.

Cornara et al. (publication B) strongly suggest that Cabernet Sauvignon is not a systemic host for the CoDiRO strain. The uncertainties associated with this conclusion are limited because the experiments involved a large number of plants and showed high infection rates in susceptible control species. As explained above, the generalisation of this conclusion to other grapevine cultivars or *Vitis* species does, however, carry significant uncertainty.

These experimental results also suggest that grapevine might not even support local accumulation of bacterial populations of the CoDiRO strain. However, such a conclusion would appear to contradict the results of the mechanical inoculation experiments which showed prolonged PCR detectability of *X. fastidiosa* at or near the inoculation point (see below). The uncertainties associated with the results obtained by Cornara et al. (publication B) are mostly linked to the experimental set up. In particular, one could wonder whether higher inoculation pressure (use of a larger number of insects or of insects having acquired *X. fastidiosa* in the glasshouse on experimental hosts and therefore likely to carry a higher bacterial titre) would have provided the same results.

3.1.2.3. Mechanical inoculation experiments

Experiments to infect plants by mechanical inoculation of isolated bacteria mimic introduction and translocation of bacteria by insect vectors competent to deliver the pathogen to the plant (Wistrom and Purcell, 2005; Backus et al., 2015). Experimental conditions are artificial and, particularly when unknown interactions are to be studied, each variable of the procedure (e.g. cell density, pricking sites and intensity) have to be optimised to maximise infection efficiency. The experimental conditions used



to infect plants are described in great detail in the pilot project on *X. fastidiosa* host plants (Saponari et al., 2016), which provides information on all specific requirements and conditions for mechanical inoculation of various host plants with high efficiency. The methods described are based on knowledge and experiences shared by the most proficient experts in the field.

Following a pilot experiment with three grapevine plants performed in July 2014, the two initial inoculation experiments in December 2014 involved 10 cuttings per experiment of the grapevine cv. Cabernet Sauvignon, which is a systemic host of *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *fastidiosa* (Almeida and Purcell, 2003). A third experiment was initiated in June 2015 involving the cvs. Negroamaro and Primitivo (10 plants for each cultivar). Therefore, the last observation time for Cabernet Sauvignon was 19 months after inoculation (from December 2014 to July 2016) and for the two other cultivars 13 months. Inoculated plants were maintained under glasshouse conditions at 24–28°C for constant growth and to avoid the dormancy period during fall/winter.

In its previous scientific opinion on *Vitis* spp. response to *X. fastidiosa* strain CoDiRO (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015), the Panel raised concerns on the applied methodology regarding: (i) the efficiency of artificial inoculation tests with plants that might either be less susceptible to a particular subspecies/strain of *X. fastidiosa* or only show non-systemic infections; (ii) the low number of plants used might not have allowed detection of a low frequency of infection; (iii) the positive qPCR detection obtained for several plants near the inoculation sites even 12 months after inoculation but not in the stems and petioles above the inoculation point. In addition, despite the failed attempts to isolate and culture bacterial cells from those inoculation foci, the concern was expressed by the Panel that the DNA detected could correspond to viable but non-culturable cells and that grapevine might serve as an asymptomatic reservoir for the CoDiRO strain from which transmission by xylem-feeding insects could occur (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015).

The updated information provided in the dossier submitted by the Italian Authorities for this mandate (Section 2.1) follows up on the *V. vinifera* cv. Cabernet Sauvignon plants inoculated in December 2014 and novel information on the results of the experiments with cvs. Negroamaro and Primitivo. The follow up of the seven remaining Cabernet Sauvignon plants (out of the 20 originally inoculated plants) failed to detect bacterial DNA in old stem segments above the inoculation points and in new sprouts recovered after the main stem had been trimmed in April 2016. In the experiments with cvs. Negroamaro and Primitivo, in 7 out of 10 inoculated plants from cv. Negroamaro and 2 out of 10 from cv. Primitivo, bacterial DNA was detected by qPCR at the inoculation point (table 2 of the technical dossier). However, similar to the experiments with Cabernet Sauvignon, there was no qPCR detection of *X. fastidiosa* DNA in dissected stems or petioles above the inoculation points. All test plants developed healthy appearing sprouts and leaves and attempts to isolate bacteria from the inoculated Negroamaro and Primitivo plants have so far yielded negative results.

The Panel acknowledges that experiments providing negative evidence inherently present many difficulties. In the particular case of grapevine, which is a known host of *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *fastidiosa*, a hitherto unknown host/pathogen interaction with a different subspecies (subsp. *pauca* strain CoDiRO) might warrant more precautionary considerations than with plants for which similar pathogens have never been recorded.

Taken together the results of the two consecutive experiments with Cabernet Sauvignon and of the experiment with Negroamaro and Primitivo showed a positive qPCR detection of *X. fastidiosa* DNA near the inoculation points for extended periods of time in some of the inoculated plants but there was no detection of bacteria in distant/non-inoculated tissues nor successful isolation of bacteria by culturing when attempted. These reproducible results support the conclusion that the tested varieties are not systemic hosts of the CoDiRO strain, with limited uncertainty.

The qPCR positive detection for extended time periods at the inoculation points is at odds with the results obtained following insect-mediated inoculation in which qPCR tests of inoculated plants were systematically negative (Cornara et al., publication B). It could suggest local accumulation of bacterial cells and possibly a non-systemic host status for the inoculated cultivars. The Panel had reflected on this situation in its previous opinion (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015), also discussing the possibility that a non-systemic host with only localised infection could still contribute to the spread of the disease to other plants, as was demonstrated in other cases (Hill and Purcell, 1995, 1997).

The Panel recognises that very different bacterial loads are delivered in the two types of inoculation and that the positive qPCR detection after mechanical inoculation might be an artefactual amplification of residual DNA from dead bacterial cells. Such an interpretation would be consistent with the failure of the attempts at bacterial isolation from the inoculated plants. However, bacterial isolation may sometimes be difficult (Purcell and Saunders, 1999) and there are uncertainties about whether higher inoculation pressure in the insect-mediated transmission experiments could have resulted in a positive



qPCR signal (see above). In its previous opinion, the Panel had already reflected on the need for additional experiments to try to resolve the uncertainties associated with these positive qPCR results. Despite limited efforts at culturing, no isolation results are provided in the new dossier since the additional data concern mostly the testing of new varieties or a qPCR follow up of the inoculated plants to exclude systemic infection. The Panel still sees a need for such experiments, involving, for example, PCR assays allowing a distinction between live and dead cells (Hu et al., 2013; RT-PCR detection of bacterial RNA; Navarrete and De La Fuente, 2014), more extensive isolation efforts or *in situ* cytology to try to observe bacterial cells.

As for the insect-mediated inoculation experiments, a significant element of uncertainty is added when trying to generalise the conclusions obtained in these mechanical inoculation experiments to all grapevine cultivars and *Vitis* species.

3.1.2.4. Follow up on the survey

A survey is 'an official procedure conducted over a defined period of time to determine the characteristics of a pest population or to determine which species occur in an area' (ISPM 5 by FAO, 2016). Surveys for the presence of the CoDiRO strain in grapevine were conducted in vineyards in the epidemic zone in Apulia during November 2013, late summer 2014, January 2015 and September 2015, and the findings were reviewed in EFSA PLH Panel (2015). The surveys were conducted in vineyards close to infected olive groves. No visual signs of disease or positive samples were discovered during these surveys. However, the Panel noted that several uncertainties affected the results of these surveys including (i) the sensitivity of the sampling and diagnostic procedure, (ii) the timing of the surveys in relation to lack of symptom expression and seasonal pathogen population variation, and (iii) a lack of information on the density and behaviour of vectors for transmission (see EFSA PLH Panel, 2015 for further information). Despite high P. spumarius summer populations in Apulia and anecdotal reports of high P. spumarius populations in European vineyards (Carle and Moutous, 1966; Nicoli Aldini et al., 1998; Braccini and Pavan, 2000; Pavan, 2006; Filippin et al., 2009; Kunz et al., 2010; Cvrković et al., 2011; Trivellone et al., 2015), the lack of information on vector populations in the surveyed plots is particularly critical, because in its absence it is not possible to precisely evaluate the infection pressure. As a consequence, failure to detect the pathogen does not necessarily demonstrate a non-host status of the surveyed crop but might rather reflect an absence of confrontation between pathogen and host.

An additional survey was conducted between November 2015 and January 2016, sampling the same vineyards as previously. Thirty-six vineyards were thus selected, and each inspected for visual symptoms and samples taken for laboratory analysis. The number of samples collected from each vineyard varied but was typically between 10 and 20. Each sample was tested with ELISA, and samples with inconclusive results were retested with qPCR. Similar to the previous survey, no samples resulted in positive qPCR tests and no visual symptoms were identified.

The continued lack of detection of symptomatic plants and the negative results of diagnostic tests conducted with *Vitis* spp. tissue from vineyards in this study and in previous surveys adds confidence, but does not unambiguously demonstrate that *X. fastidiosa* is not present in grapevines in the region surveyed.

Indeed, the uncertainties outlined in EFSA PLH Panel (2015) remain and it cannot be ruled out that grapevine infection exists in that area at some low level, i.e. when no disease is detected in a sample, this does not mean that none is present (as it could have been missed by chance). Given a survey where a proportion of the population is sampled, the binomial distribution can be used to infer the probability that disease is present in host populations where none is discovered. The binomial distribution is the appropriate model for cases when sampling is done with replacement (or when the population is sufficiently large that this can be assumed) and where all samples in a population have an equal probability of selection. In this case, using the binomial distribution, a confidence interval for disease incidence can be calculated. The lower threshold of this interval is zero and the 95% one-sided upper threshold, $P_{\rm U}$, is given by

$$P_{\rm U} = 1 - 0.95^{1/N}$$

where N is the total sample size. Hence given a sample of size N, there is 95% confidence that the disease incidence is with the interval zero to P_U when no disease is detected in a sample. A useful approximation to this equation is the 'rule of three' which gives the upper threshold as,



$$P_{U} = 3/N$$
.

The rule of three works for cases where diagnostic test sensitivity is high and gives the 95% confidence interval that, if no disease is found, the true incidence of disease is less than the upper threshold $P_{\rm U}$ (p. 285 of Madden et al., 2007).

In the current survey, the typical sample size was N=20 per vineyard. Based on this, there is a 95% confidence that the true incidence of disease was between 0 and 0.15 as a proportion of the population (i.e. between 0% and 15%) in each individually tested vineyard. However, the lack of positive tests from multiple vineyards simultaneously and over time should also be considered. The total number of samples during the most recent survey is N=614. Assuming samples were independent and could be considered to be drawn from a homogeneous population, there is a 95% confidence that the true incidence in the region is between 0% and 0.48% (equivalent to an upper bound of 10–40 infected plants/hectare assuming a planting density of 2,000–8,000 plants/hectare). Although this is considerably lower than the 15% threshold incidence when only individual vineyards are considered, it is unlikely that the assumption of independence of sampling is met at this higher scale. For example, the 614 samples were clustered within 36 vineyards in the region. *X. fastidiosa* is known to have a clustered distribution at short distances due to plant-to-plant movement of vectors (Tubajika et al., 2004) and average movement distances of around 100 m, and so samples close to each other are likely to have the same disease status and cannot thus be considered independent (Blackmer et al., 2004).

This 0.48% value is conditional to a number of assumptions which increase the uncertainties affecting it. In particular, this value supposes a perfect diagnostic of infection, a condition that is rarely met in practice. In this respect, the Panel notices that the sampling for the new survey was performed during the November–January period, when bacterial titres are likely to be reduced as a consequence of cold weather conditions (Lieth et al., 2011). In view of the conjunction of the late season sampling with the use of the less-sensitive ELISA assay, the risk of false negative results in the survey cannot be totally discounted.

Another point to consider is that the strength of such surveys lies in the number of *Vitis* genotypes analysed. However, the number of individual plants tested per genotype is limited so that the 95% confidence threshold incidence is quite high for individual genotypes. In particular, the Panel wishes to stress that a total of only 30 plants were tested for all *Vitis* spp. rootstocks and non-*vinifera Vitis* spp. cultivars, with the rule of three giving a 95% confidence upper value for infection of 10% for these species in the survey.

It should also be noted that, in any case, evidence lack of infection in the surveyed host population is not direct evidence that grapevine is not a host. For example, as highlighted in EFSA PLH Panel (2015), uncertainties exist around the availability of infectious *P. spumarius* in the sampled vineyards and the feeding preferences for grapevine in the presence of other hosts.

Lastly, it should be stressed that although such surveys can provide, within uncertainty limits, some indications on whether particular genotypes can be systemic hosts, they are ill-suited to draw conclusions on a non-systemic host status because localised infections are very unlikely to be captured with the sampling strategy used.

3.1.3. Conclusions on Vitis spp. as a host for Xylella fastidiosa strain CoDiRO

The Panel acknowledges the difficulty to provide compelling evidence for non-susceptibility of a particular plant to infection with a pathogen. This is because the components/nature of the infection process are barely understood and artificial inoculation experiments thus can only mimic natural processes and are therefore much less efficient and in many cases not successful at all. Nevertheless, even a very low number of infected plants resulting from those biological experiments in which bacteria are detected at sites distant from the inoculation points at several time intervals after inoculation are proof for a successful invasion of the host, independently of the symptoms expressed. However, to provide evidence that a particular plant is not susceptible to a given pathogen is much more difficult and is also invariably associated with uncertainties concerning the correctness of the experimental approaches taken for a hitherto unknown host/pathogen interaction.

The Italian Authorities substantiated their request for deregulation with survey data and vector-mediated or mechanical inoculation experiments. The Panel recognises that these different lines of evidence, although not fully demonstrative on their own, frequently complement and reinforce each other. However, in at least one instance, the confrontation of the vector-mediated and mechanical



inoculation experiments, which provide diverging results concerning *X. fastidiosa* accumulation at the inoculation point, makes it more difficult to reach a firm conclusion (see Section 3.1.2.). In reaching its conclusions, the Panel systematically tried to consider all information available as well as the associated uncertainties and the possible synergies between the different lines of evidence.

Despite the limitations and uncertainties affecting each line of evidence, the Panel considers that, taken together, the absence of systemic infections upon mechanical and insect-mediated inoculations and the failure to detect infected grapevines in the various surveys provide sufficient demonstration that at least the inoculated cvs. Cabernet Sauvignon, Negroamaro and Primitivo do not support a systemic infection by the CoDiRO strain. The extension of this conclusion to other grapevine cultivars that have not been subjected to artificial inoculation experiments and that represent at best low numbers of plants surveyed is associated with significant uncertainty. The further extension to *Vitis* species other than *V. vinifera* would be highly speculative and associated with even larger uncertainties because of the increased genetic distance between the plants compared and because very few plants for the various non-*vinifera* species are included in the surveys. Overall, the Panel considers that, contrary to the situation described above for tested grapevine cultivars, it is premature to conclude whether a systemic host status for the CoDiRO strain can be extended to all *Vitis* species. Additional data involving experimental inoculation trials of non-*vinifera* species would greatly contribute to clarify this question.

Given the possibility that a non-systemic host could contribute to the spread of *X. fastidiosa* (Hill and Purcell, 1995, 1997), the Panel also considered the possibility that *Vitis* spp. could be non-systemic hosts of the CoDiRO strain. In this respect, the Panel wishes first to stress that the available survey results are not suitable to address this question.

The two remaining lines of evidence provide different results even if efforts at bacterial isolation were negative in both cases. Upon vector-mediated inoculation, no positive qPCR detection was obtained while positive PCR detection for prolonged periods of time was observed, only at or near the inoculation point, in some of the mechanically inoculated plants. As noted in its previous opinion by the Panel (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015), it is difficult to decide on the significance of these positive PCR signals.

Although there is a distinct possibility that the tested grapevine cultivars are not host for the CoDiRO strain, and that the local accumulation detected in the mechanical inoculation experiments might represent an artefact, the Panel considers that it is currently difficult to unambiguously conclude on this point and that additional experiments, as suggested in Section 3.1.2., would greatly help in reaching a firm conclusion.

In addition, the Panel concludes that at this stage there is no experimental data that could be used to support an extension of the above conclusion, reached with a few cultivars, to other grapevine cultivars or even to non-*vinifera* species. In this respect, artificial inoculation experiments performed on non-*vinifera* species seem critical to reach any broad conclusion on a non-systemic host status of all members of the genus *Vitis*.

3.2. Assessment of *Citrus* spp. as hosts of *Xylella fastidiosa* strain CoDiRO

3.2.1. Background information

There is ample information that citrus isolates of X. fastidiosa subsp. pauca are able to systemically infect some Citrus species, specially Citrus sinensis (sweet orange), in which they cause a severe disease that has been named Citrus variegated chlorosis (CVC) (Laranjeira et al., 1998). In the susceptible sweet orange cv. Caipira, for example, a CVC isolate was shown to multiply and move systemically over time, reaching concentrations that increased from log 4-5 CFU/g of tissue at 1 week to log 5-7 CFU/g at 2-4 months after mechanical inoculation. All sweet orange cultivars tested so far are susceptible, except Navelina ISA 315, which shows very low bacterial titre (Fadel et al., 2014). However, acid lime (Citrus aurantifolia), lemon (Citrus limon), grapefruit (Citrus paradisi), pummelo (Citrus grandis), kumquats, Poncirus trifoliata and most mandarins (Citrus reticulata) and tangors (C. sinensis × C. reticulata) are highly tolerant or resistant to this pathogen (Coletta-Filho et al., 2007; Garcia et al., 2012). In some genotypes, considered to be resistant, such as hybrids of C. sinensis and tangor cv. Murcot, the bacterium cannot move and only local infection has been reported. It can locally multiply around the inoculation point but is unable to systemically invade the plant and to colonise tissues distant from the inoculation point (Niza et al., 2015). Although local infection by X. fastidiosa subsp. pauca can be detected in resistant genotypes 2-3 months after inoculation, bacterial populations usually decline after several months (Coletta-Filho et al., 2007; Niza et al., 2015).



The ability to multiply and establish systemic and persistent infections depends not only on the citrus host species, but also on the *X. fastidiosa* strain. In reciprocal mechanical inoculation experiments, Brazilian isolates of *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *pauca* from coffee did not infect *C. sinensis* (sweet orange), while CVC isolates were able to infect and multiply in *Coffea arabica*, but at lower rates and titres than in sweet orange (Almeida et al., 2008; Prado et al., 2008). In addition, infections by CVC isolates in coffee plants remained local (detected only a few cm around the inoculation point) and did not persist after several months post-inoculation (Almeida et al., 2008). Although closely related, coffee and citrus strains of *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *pauca* are thus genetically and biologically distinct, with differential abilities to colonise coffee and citrus plants.

Xylella fastidiosa accumulation is an important requirement for a host plant to serve as an inoculum source. For *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *fastidiosa*, a minimum population level of log 4 CFU/g of plant tissue is required for bacterial acquisition and subsequent transmission by an efficient sharpshooter vector (Hill and Purcell, 1997). Higher bacterial populations result in higher transmission efficiency; in grapevines, for example, transmission efficiency by the blue-green sharpshooter ranged from 4.5% to 55% for *X. fastidiosa* populations of log 4 CFU/g and log 8 CFU/g of plant tissue, respectively. Systemic movement of *X. fastidiosa* and persistence of infections increases the capacity of host plants to serve as an inoculum source (Hill and Purcell, 1995, 1997; Purcell and Saunders, 1999).

Concerning the specific case of the CoDiRO strain, the following information was available prior to the dossier provided by the Italian Authorities:

- Results of artificial mechanical inoculation experiments conducted on greenhouse-grown plants in the frame of the Pilot project on *X. fastidiosa* host plants (Saponari et al., 2016). These experiments, conducted in parallel to the grapevine cv. Cabernet Sauvignon mechanical inoculation experiment involved 10 plants each of sweet orange (cv. Madame Vinous), grapefruit (cv. Duncan) and mandarin (cv. Comune) and 10 plants each of three Citrange hybrids (Carrizo, Troyer and C35).
- Results of one experiment of exposure to naturally infective *P. spumarius* in the field, involving 10 plants of each of sweet orange (cv. Navelina), clementine (cv. Hernandina) and Citrange Troyer (Saponari et al., 2016). In the report of this project, only data on the sweet orange plants was provided. Concerning this experiment, it is worth mentioning that it is unclear to the Panel whether the cv. Navelina used is the same as Navelina ISA 315 reported to be the only variety of sweet orange which shows resistance to *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *pauca* CVC causing strains in Brazil (Fadel et al., 2014).
- Results of field surveys carried out in the Apulia region and involving various numbers of *Citrus* spp. plants, including sweet orange, clementine, mandarin and lemon, which failed to detect *X. fastidiosa* in a total of over 350 plants (Martelli, 2016).

Overall, this data has been developed by the same teams and methodologies as the data on *Vitis* spp. susceptibility analysed by EFSA in its previous opinion (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015). As a consequence, all major uncertainties or limitations of such data previously pointed out by the Panel also apply in the case of the *Citrus* spp. data.

Contrary to the Cabernet Sauvignon grapevines inoculated in parallel, X. fastidiosa was detected by qPCR at the node above the inoculation point of Citrus spp. plants at 3-month post-inoculation (in 1–5 of the 10 inoculated plants of each tested species; Saponari et al., 2016). According to additional data obtained by EFSA from the Italian Authorities upon request (Section 2.1), positive culture isolation of the bacteria from Madam Vinous sweet orange 3 months post-inoculation was also obtained (two colonies from a 1:100 sap dilution of a composite leaf sample). Twelve months post-inoculation, the bacteria were still detected by qPCR in a few plants in stem segments 10 cm from the inoculation point (3 plants out of a total of 36 analysed plants, with another 3 giving positive PCR only in petioles 10 cm away but not in the stem). Fourteen months post-inoculation, qPCR indicated titres in the inoculated section of a few plants of between 9.9E + 04 and 1.9E + 06 CFU/mL. The bacterium could not be re-isolated from the stem or leaf petiole 12 months post-inoculation, when six plants were entirely sectioned and tested by culturing.

3.2.2. Assessment of new data provided by the Italian Authorities

The new data provided in the dossier prepared by the Italian Authorities concerns two different aspects: (i) experimental inoculations of sweet orange (cv. Madam Vinous) using infectious



P. spumarius (Cornara et al., publication B) and (ii) a follow up at a later time on the plants remaining from the mechanical inoculation experiment described above.

Concerning the results presented in the Cornara et al. (publication B), *X. fastidiosa* was consistently detected by qPCR over a 14 months period in the leaf and stem tissues exposed to infective insects of 10 of the 75 test plants (13.3%). Under similar inoculation conditions, systemic accumulation of *X. fastidiosa* was detected in 41.3% of inoculated olive plants and in 74% of inoculated oleander plants. Taking into account the previous results obtained with experimental mechanical inoculation described above, the authors discuss the possibility that *Citrus* spp. 'may support early and localised multiplication of *X. fastidiosa*, but this plant is not a systemic host of ST53'.

The follow up on the plants remaining from the experimental inoculation experiment of 2014 provides results of qPCR testing 19 months post-inoculation of the four remaining plants of each of the six tested genotypes (the other six plants for each genotype having been tested 14 months post-inoculation). *X. fastidiosa* could not be detected in any of the retested *Citrus* plants, either in old stem parts that included the inoculation points or in new sprouts. Given the very low number of plants and the absence of information on the reproducibility of this novel observation, this second piece of new data contributes little to reducing the uncertainties.

The data presented by Cornara et al. (publication B) provide novel information from robust experimental conditions as judged by (i) the high rates of infection achieved in parallel in susceptible hosts like olive and oleander, (ii) the appropriate control of *P. spumarius* bacterial loads and (iii) the survival of *P. spumarius* on the sweet orange test plants. Uncertainties associated with these experiments mostly concern the absence of confirmatory assays, in particular isolation/culturing experiments, which would potentially have allowed the hypothesis for a local multiplication of *X. fastidiosa* in the inoculated portion of the sweet orange test plants to be confirmed.

Lastly, these new results (Cornara et al., publication B), which appear to be the most robust ones to date, deal only with a single sweet orange cultivar. Given the known variability that may exist between *Citrus* species and *X. fastidiosa* strains (see Section 3.2.1), there is a very high uncertainty as to whether these results, obtained in sweet orange, can be generalised to all *Citrus* species. A possible way to reduce this uncertainty would be to take into account the results of the surveys performed in the Apulia region (Martelli, 2016), which involve plants of four *Citrus* species (sweet orange, lemon, mandarin and clementine). However, the Panel wishes to point out that this kind of survey is particularly ill-suited to detect situations of non-systemic infection. In addition, the absence of data on the presence and infectivity of *P. spumarius* vectors in the surveyed *Citrus* spp. groves further complicates the interpretation of the survey results, as previously discussed for the grapevine surveys (Section 3.1.2.).

3.2.3. Conclusions on Citrus spp. as hosts of Xylella fastidiosa strain CoDiRO

The data available to date provides coherent and converging lines of evidence suggesting that sweet orange may be a non-systemic host of the CoDiRO strain. However, from the experimental evidence and the known variability in sweet orange-*X. fastidiosa* interactions, it is premature to exclude that systemic infections could not occur in cultivars other than the tested Madam Vinous. Such a scenario would be in line with the reported infection pattern observed in a range of *Citrus* spp. with *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *pauca* (Coletta-Filho et al., 2007; Garcia et al., 2012; Niza et al., 2015).

Given the very limited data available on species other than sweet orange, the Panel considers that it is similarly premature to conclude that the situation in sweet orange, if solidly demonstrated, could be extended to all other *Citrus* species.

Lastly, the Panel wishes to stress that epidemiological consequences of non-systemic infections of *Citrus* spp. plants by the CoDiRO strain are currently completely unknown. In particular, it remains to be investigated whether such non-systemic infections could serve as sources for transmission of *X. fastidiosa* by insect vectors to other susceptible species.

As exposed in Section 3.2.1., transmission studies with *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *fastidiosa* showed that the probability of pathogen acquisition by a competent vector depends on bacterial multiplication in the host reaching a minimum level of log 4 CFU/g of plant tissue (Hill and Purcell, 1997). The results presented in Saponari et al. (2016) show that the CoDiRO strain is able to non-systemically infect sweet orange cv. Madame Vinous. Fourteen months post-inoculation, population levels of log 4–6 CFU/mL around the inoculation point were found in a significant proportion of mechanically inoculated plants. Although it is not straightforward to compare an experimental concentration expressed in CFU/mL with the threshold for transmission expressed in CFU/g of plant tissue, it still appears likely that if a similar transmission



threshold applies to the CoDiRO strain it could be reached in at least some of the plants concerned. This adds a considerable level of uncertainty concerning the risks of *Citrus* spp. acting as an inoculum source of the pathogen. This uncertainty might be reduced by investigating if a competent vector (e.g. *P. spumarius*) can indeed acquire the bacterium when exposed to infected portions of citrus plants at different times after inoculation and evaluations of viable cell concentrations by culturing and qPCR.

3.3. Assessment of *Quercus ilex* as a host of *Xylella fastidiosa* strain CoDiRO

3.3.1. Background information

There is ample information that *X. fastidiosa* is able to systemically infect a range of oak (*Quercus* spp.) species (Barnard et al., 1998; EFSA, 2016), including some European species like *Quercus robur* and *Quercus suber* (Hartman, 2007; ONPV, 2015). In at least some of these species, infection by *X. fastidiosa* causes a severe leaf scorch disease. For *Q. ilex*, however, the Panel was unable to identify a specific reference in the literature showing that it can be a host for at least some *X. fastidiosa* subspecies or strains.

Early PCR results in Apulia reported presence of the CoDiRO strain in one *Q. ilex* plant (personal communication by Pasquale Di Rubbo, DG SANTE, of 26 August 2016). These initial results apparently form the basis for the initial inclusion of the entire genus *Quercus* among potential host plants.⁶ Later, *Quercus* spp. was kept in Annex I of the Commission Implementing Decision (EU) 2015/789 as a 'specified plant' known to be susceptible to the European and non-European isolates of *X. fastidiosa*. Such initial results have not been reproduced (see below).

Concerning the specific case of the CoDiRO strain, the following information was available prior to the dossier provided by the Italian Authorities:

- Results of artificial mechanical inoculation experiments conducted on greenhouse-grown *Q. ilex* plants in the frame of the Pilot project on *X. fastidiosa* host plants (Saponari et al., 2016). These experiments, conducted in parallel to the grapevine Cabernet Sauvignon mechanical inoculation experiments, involved 12 *Q. ilex* plants.
- Results of one experiment of exposure to naturally infective *P. spumarius* in the field, involving 12 *Q. ilex* plants (Saponari et al., 2016).
- Results of field surveys carried out in the Apulia region and involving 130 samples of *Quercus* sp. plants, all of which turned out negative. In the data received by EFSA, there is, however, no information as to how many of these samples belong to the species *Q. ilex*, which introduces a substantial uncertainty (Annex III of the dossier).

Overall, this data has been developed by the same teams and methodologies as the data on *Vitis* spp. susceptibility analysed by EFSA in its previous opinion (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015). As a consequence, all major uncertainties or limitations of this data previously pointed out by the Panel also apply in the case of the *Q. ilex* data. In particular, as pointed out previously by EFSA in its analysis of similar survey data concerning grapevine (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015), in the absence of data on the presence and infectivity of *P. spumarius* vectors in the surveyed oak trees, the absence of detection of *X. fastidiosa* cannot be taken as an indication that the surveyed plant are not systemic hosts.

Similar to the situation in grapevines cv. Cabernet Sauvignon inoculated in parallel, positive qPCR detection of *X. fastidiosa* was observed 3 months post-inoculation at the inoculation point (8/12 plants) but not at the node above the inoculation point. At 12 months post-inoculation, bacterial DNA was not detected in three plants that were extensively sampled at or above the inoculation point.

3.3.2. Assessment on *Quercus ilex* as a host of *Xylella fastidiosa* strain CoDiRO

The new data provided in the dossier prepared by the Italian Authorities concerns a follow up at a later time point on the plants remaining from the single mechanical inoculation experiment described above. The nine remaining plants were each extensively sampled and tested at 19 months post-inoculation. *X. fastidiosa* could not be detected in any stem section of the plants from 5 cm above the

_

⁶ DG(SANCO) 2014-7260 - MR FINAL. Final report of an audit carried out in Italy from 10 to 14 February 2014 in order to evaluate the situation and official controls for *Xylella fastidiosa*. Available from http://ec.europa.eu/food/fvo/act_getPDF.cfm? PDF_ID=11108



inoculation points. Given the low number of plants involved and the absence of information on the reproducibility of this single mechanical inoculation experiment, this piece of new data contributes little to reducing the uncertainties.

3.3.3. Conclusions on Quercus ilex as a host of Xylella fastidiosa strain CoDiRO

The data available to date provides some limited evidence suggesting that *Q. ilex* may not be a systemic host of the CoDiRO strain. However, from this limited evidence, which mostly concerns a single mechanical inoculation experiment that has not been reproduced, the Panel concludes that it would be premature to exclude the possibility that systemic infections could occur in this *Quercus* species. It also wishes to stress that, similar to the situation in grapevine and in citrus, the currently available evidence could point to the possibility of an initial local accumulation of *X. fastidiosa* upon inoculation, the epidemiological consequences of which remain unknown.

A simple consideration of the volume of experimental data developed on the study of the host status of *Vitis* spp. and of the difficulties encountered to reach an unambiguous conclusion provides a road map for future efforts to develop data that would allow reaching a conclusion in the case of *Q. ilex.* Such novel data would in particular involve mechanical and vector-mediated inoculation experiments encompassing significant numbers of plants and appropriate controls and surveys including information about bacterial population levels *in planta* and infectious vectors populations.

4. Conclusions

In answer to a request of the European Commission, the PLH Panel performed an analysis of a dossier submitted by the Italian Authorities and of the relevant scientific literature in order to reach a conclusion on the host status of *Vitis* spp., *Citrus* spp. and *Q. ilex* to *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *pauca* strain CoDiRO involved in the current Apulian outbreak.

The Panel acknowledges the difficulty in providing compelling evidence for non-susceptibility of a particular plant to infection with a pathogen. It also wishes to stress that novel experimental data developed since its previous evaluation (EFSA PLH Panel, 2015) has significantly reduced the uncertainties associated with the evaluation of the grapevine–CoDiRO host status.

In the case of *Vitis* spp., the Panel recognises that the different available lines of evidence, although not fully demonstrative on their own, frequently complement and reinforce each other. Therefore, in reaching its conclusions, the Panel systematically tried to consider all information available as well as the associated uncertainties and the possible synergies between the different lines of evidence.

Despite the limitations and uncertainties affecting each line of evidence, the Panel considers that the absence of systemic infections upon mechanical and insect-mediated inoculations and the failure to detect infected grapevines in the various surveys provide sufficient demonstration that at least the inoculated cvs. Cabernet Sauvignon, Negroamaro and Primitivo do not support a systemic infection by the CoDiRO strain.

The extension of this conclusion to other grapevine cultivars that have not been subjected to artificial inoculation experiments and that represent at best low numbers of plants surveyed is associated with significant uncertainty. The further extension to *Vitis* species other than *V. vinifera* is associated with even larger uncertainties because of the increased genetic distance between the plants compared and because very few plants for these various non-*vinifera* species are included in the surveys. Overall, the Panel considers that, contrary to the situation described above for tested grapevine cultivars, it is premature to conclude whether a systemic host status for the CoDiRO strain can be excluded for all *Vitis* species. Additional data involving experimental inoculation trials of non-*vinifera* species would greatly contribute to clarify this question.

Given the known possibility that a non-systemic host could contribute to the spread of *X. fastidiosa*, the Panel also considered the possibility that *Vitis* spp. could be non-systemic hosts of the CoDiRO strain. Considering all available evidence, the Panel concludes that although there is a distinct possibility that the tested grapevine cultivars are not host for the CoDiRO strain, and that the local accumulation detected in the mechanical inoculation experiments might represent an artefact, it is currently difficult to unambiguously conclude on this point. Additional experiments would greatly help in reaching a firm conclusion.

In addition, the Panel concludes that at this stage there is no experimental data that could be used to support an extension of a tentative conclusion concerning the non-systemic host status of a few cultivars to other grapevine cultivars or even to non-vinifera species. In this respect, artificial



inoculation experiments performed on non-*vinifera* species seem critical to reach any broad conclusion on a non-systemic host status of all members of the genus *Vitis*.

In the case of *Citrus* spp., the Panel notes that many species are known to be systemic or non-systemic hosts of *X. fastidiosa* subsp. *pauca*, clearly raising the question of whether the same may apply in the case of the CoDiRO strain. After reviewing the available evidence, the Panel concludes that the data available to date provides coherent and converging lines of evidence suggesting that sweet orange may be a non-systemic host of the CoDiRO strain. However, from the experimental evidence and the known variability in sweet orange–*X. fastidiosa* interactions, it is premature to exclude that systemic infections could not occur in cultivars other than the tested Madam Vinous.

Given the very limited data available on species other than sweet orange, the Panel considers that it is similarly premature to conclude that the situation in sweet orange, if solidly demonstrated, could be extended to all other *Citrus* species.

Lastly, the Panel wishes to stress that the epidemiological consequences of non-systemic infections of *Citrus* spp. plants by the CoDiRO strain are currently completely unknown. In particular, it remains to be investigated whether such non-systemic infections could serve as sources for transmission of *X. fastidiosa* by insect vectors to other susceptible species.

In the case of *Quercus ilex*, the Panel notes that this species was included in the list of host species on the basis of an initial report that could not be confirmed later. However, given the number of oak species that have proven to be hosts to *X. fastidiosa*, the question of whether *Q. ilex* could be a host of the CoDiRO strain appears to be a valid one. The Panel concludes that the data available to date provides some limited evidence suggesting that *Q. ilex* may not be a systemic host of the CoDiRO strain. However, from this limited evidence, which mostly concerns a single mechanical inoculation experiment that has not been reproduced, the Panel concludes that it would be premature to exclude the possibility that systemic infections could occur in this *Quercus* species. It also wishes to stress that, similar to the situation in grapevine and in citrus, the currently available evidence could point to the possibility of an initial local accumulation of *X. fastidiosa* upon inoculation, the epidemiological consequences of which remain unknown.

References

- Almeida RPP and Purcell AH, 2003. Transmission of *Xylella fastidiosa* to grapevines by *Homalodisca coagulata* (Hemiptera: Cicadellidae). Journal of Economic Entomology, 96, 264–271.
- Almeida RPP, Nascimento FE, Chau J, Prado SS, Tsai CW, Lopes SA and Lopes JR, 2008. Genetic structure and biology of *Xylella fastidiosa* strains causing disease in citrus and coffee in Brazil. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 74, 3690–3701.
- Backus EA, Shugart HJ, Rogers EE, Morgan JK and Shatters R, 2015. Direct evidence of egestion and salivation of *Xylella fastidiosa* suggests sharpshooters can be "flying syringes". Phytopathology, 105, 608–620.
- Barnard EL, Ash EC, Hopkins DL and McGovern RJ, 1998. Distribution of *Xylella fastidiosa* in oaks in Florida and its association with growth decline in *Quercus laevis*. Plant Disease, 82, 569–572.
- Blackmer JL, Hagler JR, Simmons GS and Cañas LA, 2004. Comparative dispersal of *Homalodisca coagulata* and *Homalodisca liturata* (Homoptera: Cicadellidae). Environmental Entomology, 33, 88–99.
- Braccini P and Pavan F, 2000. Auchenorrinchi: potenziali vettori di fitoplasmi associati a giallumi della vite. Informatore Agrario, 56, 103–107.
- Carle P and Moutous G, 1966. Observations sur le mode de nutrition sur vigne de quatre espèces de Cicadelles. Annales des Epiphyties, 16, 333–354.
- Coletta-Filho HD, Pereira EO, Souza AA, Takita MA, Cristofani-Yale M and Machado MA, 2007. Analysis of resistance to *Xylella fastidiosa* within a hybrid population of Pera sweet orange × Murcott tangor. Plant Pathology, 56, 661–668.
- Cornara D, Cavalieri V, Dongiovanni C, Altamura G, Palmisano F, Bosco D, Porcelli F, Almeida RPP and Saponari M. Transmission of *Xylella fastidiosa* by naturally infected *Philaenus spumarius* (Hemiptera, Aphrophoridae) to different host plants. Journal of Applied Entomology, in press.
- Cornara D, Saponari M, Zeilinger AR, de Stradis A, Boscia D, Loconsole G, Bosco D, Martelli GP, Almeida RPP and Porcelli F, 2016. Spittlebugs as vectors of *Xylella fastidiosa* in olive orchards in Italy. Journal of Pest Science, doi: 10.1007/s10340-016-0793-0
- Cornara D, Sicard A, Zeilinger AR, Porcelli F, Purcell AH and Almeida RPP, publication A. Transmission of *Xylella fastidiosa* to grapevine by the meadow spittlebug. Phytopathology, in press. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1094/PHYTO-05-16-0202-R
- Cvrković T, Jović J, Mitrović M, Krstić O, Krnjajic S and Toševski I, 2011. Potential new hemipteran vectors of stolbur phytoplasma in Serbian vineyards. Bulletin of Insectology 64 (supp.): S129–S130.



- EFSA (European Food Safety Authority), 2016. Scientific report on the update of a database of host plants of *Xylella fastidiosa*: 20 November 2015. EFSA Journal 2016;14(2):4378, 40 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2016.4378
- EFSA PLH Panel (EFSA Panel on Plant Health), 2015. Scientific opinion on *Vitis* sp. response to *Xylella fastidiosa* strain CoDiRO. EFSA Journal 2015;13(11):4314, 20 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2015.4314
- EFSA PLH Panel (EFSA Panel on Plant Health), 2016. Statement on diversity of *Xylella fastidiosa* subsp. *pauca* in Apulia. EFSA Journal 2016;14(8):4542, 19 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2016.4542
- EFSA Scientific Committee, 2009. Guidance of the Scientific Committee on transparency in the scientific aspects of risk assessments carried out by EFSA. Part 2: general Principles. EFSA Journal 2009;7(5):1051, 22 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2009.1051
- EFSA Scientific Committee, 2014. Guidance on the structure and content of EFSA's scientific opinions and statements. EFSA Journal 2014;12(9):3808, 10 pp. doi:10.2903/j.efsa.2014.3808
- Fadel AL, Stuchi ES, de Carvalho SA, Federici MT and Della Coletta-Filho H, 2014. Navelina ISA 315: a cultivar resistant to citrus variegated chlorosis. Crop Protection, 64, 115–121.
- FAO (Food and Agriculture Organisation of the United Nations), 2016. ISPM (International Standards for Phytosanitary Measures) 5 Glossary of phytosanitary terms. Produced by the Secretariat of the International Plant Protection Convention (IPPC). Available online: https://www.ippc.int/static/media/files/publication/en/2016/06/ISPM 05 2016 En 2016-06-03 c6w6Iq3.pdf
- Filippin L, Jovic J, Cvrkovic T, Forte V, Clair D, Tosevski I, Boudon-Padieu E, Borgo M and Angelini E, 2009. Molecular characteristics of phytoplasmas associated with *Flavescence dorée* in clematis and grapevine and preliminary results on the role of *Dictyophara europaea* as a vector. Plant Pathology, 58, 826–837.
- Francis M, Lin H, Cabrera-La Rosa J, Doddapaneni H and Civerolo EL, 2006. Genome-based PCR primers for specific and sensitive detection and quantification of *Xylella fastidiosa*. European Journal of Plant Pathology, 115, 203–213.
- Fritschi FB, Lin H and Walker MA, 2008. Scanning electron microscopy reveals different response pattern of four *Vitis* genotypes to *Xylella fastidiosa* infection. Plant Disease, 92, 276–286.
- Fry SM and Milholland RD, 1990. Multiplication and translocation of *Xylella fastidiosa* in petioles and stems of grapevine resistant, tolerant and susceptible to Pierce's disease. Phytopathology, 80, 61–65.
- Garcia AL, Torres SCZ, Heredia M and Lopes SA, 2012. Citrus responses to *Xylella fastidiosa* infection. Plant Disease, 96, 1245–1249.
- Hartman J, 2007. Bacterial Leaf Scorch. Plant Pathology Fact Sheet. University of Kentucky College of Agriculture. Available online: http://www2.ca.uky.edu/agcollege/plantpathology/ext_files/PPFShtml/PPFS-OR-W-12.pdf
- Hill BL and Purcell AH, 1995. Multiplication and movement of *Xylella fastidiosa* within grapevine and four other plants. Phytopathology, 85, 1368–1372.
- Hill BL and Purcell AH, 1997. Populations of *Xylella fastidiosa* in plants required for transmission by an efficient vector. Phytopathology, 87, 1197–1201.
- Hu H, Davis M and Brlansky RH, 2013. Quantification of live 'Candidatus Liberibacter asiaticus' populations using real-time PCR and propidium monoazide. Plant Disease, 97, 1158–1167.
- Killiny N and Almeida RPP, 2009. *Xylella fastidiosa* afimbrial adhesins mediate cell transmission to plants by leafhopper vectors. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 75, 521–528.
- Krivanek AF and Walker MA, 2005. Vitis resistance to Pierce's disease is characterized by differential *Xylella fastidiosa* populations in stems and leaves. Phytopathology, 95, 44–52.
- Krivanek AF, Stevenson JF and Walker MA, 2005. Development and comparison of symptom indices for quantifying grapevine resistance to Pierce's disease. Phytopathology, 95, 36–43.
- Kunz G, Roschatt C and Schweigkofler W, 2010. Biodiversity of planthoppers (Auchenorrhyncha) in vineyards infected by the Bois noir phytoplasma. Gredleriana, 10, 89–108.
- Laranjeira FF, Pompeu Junior J, Harakava R, Figuereiredo JO, Carvahlo SA and Coletta Filho HD, 1998. Cultivares e espécies cítricas hospedeiras de *Xylella fastidiosa* em condições de campo. Fitopatologia Brasileira, 23, 147–154.
- Lieth JH, Meyer MM, Yeo KH and Kirkpatrick BC, 2011. Modelling cold culturing of Pierce's disease in *Vitis vinifera* Pinot Noir and Caberent Sauvignon grapevines in California. Phytopathology, 101, 1492–1500.
- Madden LV, Hughes G and van den Bosch F, 2007. *The study of plant disease epidemics*. The American Phytopathological Society, APS Press, St. Paul, MN.
- Martelli GP, 2016. The current status of the quick decline syndrome of olive in southern Italy. Phytoparasitica, 44, 1–10.
- Navarrete F and De La Fuente L, 2014. Response of *Xylella fastidiosa* to zinc: decreased culturability, increased exopolysaccharide production, and formation of resilient biofilms under flow conditions. Applied and Environmental Microbiology, 80, 1097–1107.
- Nicoli Aldini R, Guardiani MC and Cravedi P, 1998. Rilievi faunistici sugli Omotteri Auchenorrinchi in vigneti della provincia di Piacenza (Faunistic notes on the hoppers [Auchenorrhyncha, Homoptera] in vineyards of the province of Piacenza). Bolletino di Zoologia Agraria e di Bachicoltura, 30, 61–68.
- Niza B, Coletta-Filho HD, Merfa MV, Takita MA and de Souza AA, 2015. Differential colonization patterns of *Xylella fastidiosa* infecting citrus genotypes. Plant Pathology, 64, 1259–1269.



- ONPV (Organisation Nationale de Protection des Végétaux), 2015. Notification de la presence d'organismes nuisibles et des mesures de lutte. Mise à jour n°8 en date du 27/11/2015. (Décision d'exécution 2014/917/UE). France, 21 p.
- Pavan F, 2006. Xylem-feeding Auchenorrhyncha potentially involved in Pierce's disease of grapevines in Europe. Bollettino di Zoologia Agraria e di Bachicoltora, 38, 103–114.
- Prado S, Lopes JRS, Demetrio C, Borgatto A and Almeida RPP, 2008. Host colonization differences between citrus and coffee isolates of *Xylella fastidiosa* in reciprocal inoculation. Scientia Agricola, 65, 251–258.
- Purcell AH, 1980. Almond leaf scorch: leafhopper and spittlebug vectors. Journal of Economic Entomology, 73, 834–838.
- Purcell AH and Finlay AH, 1979. Evidence for non circulative transmission of Pierce's disease bacterium by sharpshooter leafhoppers. Phytopathology, 69, 393–395.
- Purcell AH and Saunders SR, 1999. Fate of Pierce's Disease strains of *Xylella fastidiosa* in common riparian plants in California. Plant Disease, 83, 825–830.
- Rashed A, Killiny N, Kwan J, and Almeida RPP, 2011. Background matching behavior and pathogen acquisition: plant site preference does not predict the bacterial acquisition efficiency of vectors. Arthropod-Plant Interactions, 5, 97–106.
- Rashed A, Kwan J, Baraff B, Ling D, Daugherty MP, Killiny N and Almeida RPP, 2013. Relative susceptibility of *Vitis vinifera* cultivars to vector-borne *Xylella fastidiosa* through time. PLoS ONE, 8, e55326.
- Redak RA, Purcell AH, Lopes JRS, Blua MJ, Mizell RF III and Andersen PC, 2004. The biology of xylem fluid-feeding insect vectors of *Xylella fastidiosa* and their relation to disease epidemiology. Annual Review of Entomology, 49, 243–270.
- Sanderlin RS and Melanson RA, 2010. Insect transmission of *Xylella fastidiosa* to pecan. Plant Disease, 94, 465–470.
- Saponari M, Loconsole G, Cornara D, Yokomi RK, de Stradis A, Boscia D, Bosco D, Martelli GP, Krugner R and Porcelli F, 2014. Infectivity and transmission of *Xylella fastidiosa* by *Philaenus spumarius* (Hemiptera: Aphrophoridae) in Apulia, Italy. Journal of Economic Entomology, 4, 1316–1319.
- Saponari M, Boscia D, Altamura G, D'Attoma G, Cavalieri V, Loconsole G, Zicca S, Dongiovanni C, Palmisano F, Susca L, Morelli M, Potere O, Saponari A, Fumarola G, Di Carolo M, Tavano D, Savino V and MArtelli P, 2016. Pilot project on *Xylella fastidiosa* to reduce risk assessment uncertainties. EFSA supporting publication 2016: EN-1013, 60 pp.
- Severin H, 1950. Spittle-insect vectors of Pierce's disease virus. II. Life history and virus transmission. Hilgardia, 19, 357–376.
- Trivellone V, Jermini M and Angelini E, 2015. Occurrence of Leaf- and Planthoppers known and potential vectors of phytoplasmas in vineyards of Southern Switzerland. Proceedings of the IOBC-WPRS Conference of the Working Group on "Integrated Protection and Production in Viticulture"; 10/2015, Vienna.
- Tubajika KM, Civerolo EL, Ciomperlik MA, Luvisi DA and Hashim JM, 2004. Analysis of the spatial patterns of Pierce's disease incidence in the lower San Joaquin Valley in California. Phytopathology, 94, 1136–1144.
- Wistrom C and Purcell H, 2005. The fate of *Xylella fastidiosa* in vineyads weeds and other alternate hosts in California. Plant Disease, 89, 994–999.

Abbreviations

CFU colony-forming unit

CVC Citrus variegated chlorosis

ELISA enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay

MLST multilocus sequence typing PCR polymerase chain reaction PLH EFSA Plant Health Panel

qPCR quantitative polymerase chain reaction

TOR Terms of Reference